IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed ANDREW ROBERT ALLEN LASTINE, No. 73239 Dec 07 2017 01:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in CR16-0718 The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Honorable Patrick Flanagan, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Washoe County Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 4925 JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 10 350 South Center Street, 5th Floor P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027 (775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on May 11, 2017. 1JA 134-35. Appellant, Andrew Robert Allen Lastine (Mr. Lastine or Andrew), filed a notice of appeal on June 8, 2017. 1JA 136-37. This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Mr. Lastine was convicted by a jury of a category B felony—leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injury—and therefore this appeal is not assigned to the Court of Appeals. See NRAP 17(b)(2)(A) (exempting from a presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals those judgments of conviction based on jury verdicts involving either category A or B felonies). Nor is this appeal within the set of appeals that the Nevada Supreme Court must "hear and decide." See NRAP 17(a) (1)-(11). The Fourth Amendment issue presented in this appeal, which involves third-party consent, is suitable for review and

¹ "JA" in this Opening Brief stands for the Joint Appendix. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1). Volume numbers appear immediately before "JA."

disposition by either the Nevada Supreme Court or the Nevada Court of Appeals.

III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUE PRESENTED

A search of a home requires a warrant or a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. Consent is a recognized exception where applicable. Did the district court err in concluding that a third party—Mr. Lastine's Uncle—could grant permission to search Mr. Lastine's room, which was not part of a common area in the shared home?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction. The State charged Mr. Lastine with leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injury, a violation of NRS 484E.010, a category B felony. 1JA 1-3 (Information). A jury convicted Mr. Lastine of this offense. 1JA 133 (Verdict); 4JA 414-16. The district court sentenced Mr. Lastine to a term of 36 to 120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, with credit for 51 days in predisposition custody (time served). The district court also imposed a fine of \$2,000.00, restitution, and statutorily required fees and assessments. 1JA 134-35 (Judgment of Conviction). Mr. Lastine timely filed a notice of appeal. 1JA 136-37 (Notice of Appeal).

///

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Trial

A.

In the early evening of January 7, 2016, Gertrude Green was driving home from work in her Kia Sorento when she stopped at the controlled intersection of Sun Valley Boulevard and Fifth Street. As she waited for the light to change so that she could turn right onto Fifth Street, she was rear-ended. 2JA 170-77. Her car veered a little to the right, and she saw a small truck heading down a little embankment and down Fifth Street. 2JA 173-74. When her car was hit from behind Ms. Green went forward, but her seatbelt yanked her back and she felt her neck snap. 2JA 173. Jason Beck, who saw the accident while on his way to pick up his daughter, got out of his car and checked on Ms. Green. Another person called 911. 2JA 174; 3JA 203-06. Ms. Green stayed in her car until help arrived. 2JA 174-75, 178. She was ultimately transported to Renown Medical Center by ambulance. 2JA 178.

Mr. Beck watched the accident happen. Moments earlier the small truck that hit Ms. Green's vehicle had swerved in front of him at the intersection of Sun Valley Boulevard and First Avenue. 3JA 197-98.

The truck was an older Ford pickup truck with a "classic vehicle" license plate. 3JA 198. Mr. Beck testified that the light at the intersection of Sun Valley Boulevard and Fifth Street was red, but the small truck did not slow down, did not attempt to stop, and "rear-ended" Ms. Green's car. 3JA 199-200. Mr. Beck watched Ms. Green's car came to a stop while the small truck went over an embankment and through a parking lot before heading down the street. 3JA 200-01. Mr. Beck stayed at the scene until law enforcement and medical personnel arrived. 3JA 206-07.

Ms. Green's Kia had moderate damage in the rear of the vehicle. Behind it was a debris field caused by the accident. And in the debris field was a license plate. 3JA 215, 264. Nevada Highway Patrol Trooper Alyssa Howald ran the license plate number through her dispatch, and was provided an address for the registered owner. 3JA 217, 259-61, 264-65. And she learned that Washoe County Sheriff Deputies were already at that address. 3JA 265. Trooper Howald left the accident scene and drove to the address she had been provided. 3JA 265. When she arrived she saw an "older model Ford pickup in the driveway." 3JA 265. Her partner, Sergeant Bowers, completed the investigation on scene and

then also went to the address of the registered owner. 3JA 211-13, 219-21, 265. By the time Sergeant Bowers arrived at the house, Mr. Lastine was already in custody. 3JA 221. Sergeant Bowers testified that the license plate found in the debris field at the accident matched a license plate found on a little pickup truck found at the residence. 3JA 220-21.

At the residence Trooper Howald spoke with a Washoe County Sheriff Deputy. She then entered the house and found Mr. Lastine in handcuffs sitting on a couch. 3JA 266-67. She made the decision to arrest him and after making the arrest, searched him. 3JA 269. She found a set of keys in his right rear pocket. One of the keys appeared to be a vehicle key. 3JA 269-70. Trooper Howald transported Mr. Lastine to the Washoe County Jail. 3JA 271. During the ride Mr. Lastine said out load (apparently referencing himself), "I was a fucking idiot and that's all that matters. [O]ne, you're a fucking idiot, two, you're a fucking idiot, three, idiot, this guy." 3JA 272-73.

Β.

Deputy Sheriff Francisco Gamboa, a seventeen-year veteran of the Washoe County Sheriff's Office, was driving through Sun Valley when he heard a call regarding the accident. 3JA 298-301. Deputy Gamboa responded to the scene to "help look for the vehicle that left the area." 3JA 301. Because the vehicle was reported to be driving east on Fifth Street, Deputy Gamboa headed in that direction. 3JA 301-02. As he drove he received an update on the potential address associated with the vehicle (based on the license plate that had been found at the scene). 3JA 303. When he arrived at the address he saw a light colored small truck. 3JA 304. And he saw steam coming from the front engine area. 3JA 305. The truck appeared to have been in a car accident. 3JA 306. Deputy Gamboa also saw footprints in the snow that led from the truck to the side of a house that was on the property. 3JA 307, 309.

Deputy Gamboa testified that he went to the front door of the house and knocked. Mr. Robert Lastine answered. 3JA 310. According to the deputy he identified himself to Mr. Lastine and told him that the truck had involved in an accident. Mr. Lastine told him that the truck belonged to his nephew, and that he was in the back bedroom. 3JA 311. Deputy Gamboa testified that he asked Mr. Lastine for permission "to find the owner of the truck," and Mr. Lastine said "go get him, he's in the back room." 3JA 313. Deputy Gamboa waited for Deputy Marty Obos to arrive, and then they walked through a small living room area,

through the kitchen, and then through a doorway into a hallway. 3JA 313. Deputy Obos recalled it a little differently. According to this deputy he and Deputy Gamboa walked together to the front door of the house. There they both met with Mr. Lastine who told them that there was a bedroom in the back. They walked through the main front room to a small hallway to a bedroom door that was closed. 3JA 280, 282-85.

According to Deputy Gamboa, the door was only almost all the way closed. So he pushed it open and announced their presence.² The room was dark, but he could tell that there was a person on the bed under a blanket. 3JA 314. Mr. Lastine did not respond to their commands so, in the deputy's words, "[i]mmediately, both of us entered the room and placed him in handcuffs." 3JA 315. Next to the bed was a pair of wet black tennis shoes with a distinctive tread. 3JA 315-16. Deputy Obos testified that Mr. Lastine was taken from the bedroom and put in the front room, still in handcuffs. 3JA 289-90.

///

///

² Deputy Obos testified that the door "was closed up," and that he "couldn't see inside." They opened the door, and then he saw "somebody laying on top of the bed covered in blankets." 3JA 286.

Robert Lastine testified that Andrew was his nephew, and that Andrew was living in his home, paying a small rent for the use of a back bedroom, which was an extension to the house. Mr. Lastine testified that he built the add-on. 3JA 235-38, and 249 (noting that the add-on is 20-by-20).

On January 7, 2016, Mr. Lastine "heard a loud knock." He opened the front door, but there was nobody at the door. He stepped outside and saw an officer standing next to the truck "pointing a flashlight at me and ask[ing] me to come out." 3JA 241. Mr. Lastine didn't see any smoke coming from the truck. 3JA 242, 253.

Mr. Lastine invited the officers to come into his house. 3JA 242.

He told them that Andrew was probably there and "go back to the back of the house and go get him." 3JA 243.

2. Pretrial

Prior to trial Mr. Lastine filed a motion to suppress evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment. 1JA 4-17 (Motion to Dismiss). Specifically, the motion sought to suppress (1) the shoes found in his bedroom; (2) his statement to Trooper Howald; (3) the key found

in his pocket; and (4) the fact that Trooper Howald had started the truck with the key before transporting Mr. Lastine to the Washoe County Jail. 1JA 5. The State opposed the motion. 1JA 18-30.

After an evidentiary hearing the district court orally denied all of the requested relief except for the last one—the trooper's starting the truck—concluding there that the trooper "entered the defendant's vehicle without a warrant and without probable cause to believe that there was contraband or evidence of a crime located in the vehicle." 1JA 127-28 (Transcript of Proceedings: Evidentiary Hearing). As for the other three claims for relief, the district court concluded that Mr. Robert Lastine gave "voluntary consent to the officers to enter the home and arrest the defendant." 1JA 123. Adding that the arrest, discovery of the shoes, and discovery of the keys, did not violate the Fourth Amendment because the deputies had cause to arrest Mr. Lastine (because he would not cooperate), the shoes were in plain view, and the keys were found during a search of Mr. Lastine incident to his arrest. 1JA 123-27.

///

///

///

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"Warrantless home entries" are "the chief evil against which the Fourth Amendment protects." Hannon v. State, 125 Nev. 142, 145, 207 P.3d 344, 346 (2009) (citations omitted). The protection extends to private rooms in otherwise shared quarters. Mr. Lastine rents a room in his uncle's house, and his uncle respects his privacy—his space. On January 7, 2016, sheriff deputies came to the uncle's home while investigating a hit-and-run accident. After some conversation with Mr. Lastine he allowed them into his home, and were allowed to walk down a hallway leading Andrew's bedroom door. That was as far as the uncle's permission could extend; he had no authority to grant them permission to enter Andrew's room. At that point the deputies should have obtained a search warrant; they did not. Instead they opened the door, took custody of Andrew, and obtained items of evidentiary value (including statements from Andrew) as a result of the illegal entry. These items of evidence were used to convict Mr. Lastine at trial.

Prior to trial the district court below was presented a motion to suppress the evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

The district court erred in denying the motion. This Court should

reverse and remand for a new trial with instructions to suppress all items of evidence seized as a result of the warrantless entry into Andrew's bedroom.

VII. ARGUMENT

The district court erred in concluding that a third party—Mr. Lastine's uncle—could grant permission to search Mr. Lastine's room, which was not part of a common area in the shared home.

Evidentiary Hearing Facts

At a pretrial hearing Mr. Robert Lastine identified Andrew Lastine as his nephew. 1JA 35 (Transcript of Proceedings: Evidentiary Hearing). As relevant here Mr. Robert Lastine testified that he owned a home in Sun Valley and that he added a room—20-by-20 feet—"off the back of the home." 1JA 35.3 He also made a hallway and "a door to enter into the addition." *Id.* The addition "is separate from the main house." *Id.* at 36. Andrew was living in the addition, and was paying rent to stay there. *Id.* at 36-37, 58-59 (noting that his children were living there too). If Mr. Robert Lastine wanted to go back there, he "knocked on the door just out of courtesy, *because it was his space." Id.* at 37 (italics added).

³ The addition has its own foundation for all four walls; it is attached to the main house "by an existing roof." 1JA 52.

In the early evening of January 7, 2016, Mr. Lastine "heard a severe pounding on the front door." When he went to answer it, there was nobody there. He went outside and there was a flashlight shining on him. *Id.* at 40-41. He saw an officer who asked him who owned the truck he was standing next to. Eventually two officers "came into the house, and asked me if Andrew was there." Mr. Lastine said, "if he's there, he would be in the back room." *Id.* at 42. Mr. Lastine testified that the door to the addition "is always closed." *Id.* at 46. Mr. Lastine testified that he did not know if Andrew was home that night, until the deputies went "back to the room to check on him." *Id.* at 55. Asked by the prosecutor if he said to the deputies: "you can go get him," Mr. Lastine answered, "I might have said that." *Id.*

Deputy Francisco Gamboa testified that Mr. Lastine gave him permission to enter the home. *Id.* at 65. When Deputy Obos arrived they went to the back bedroom of the house. *Id.* at 66. Deputy Gamboa testified that the door to the bedroom "was closed except for maybe approximately an inch." *Id.* So he looked inside and "saw Andrew hiding under a blanket on the bed." *Id.* at 67. The deputies announced their presence and then entered the room and handcuffed him. *Id.* at 68.

Deputy Gamboa testified on cross-examination that he did not recall if they knocked; he said they did not ask for consent to enter; they opened the door; and then they entered. *Id.* at 86.

Standard of Review

///

"This Court reviews the lawfulness of a search de novo because such review requires consideration of both factual circumstances and legal issues. A warrantless search is valid if the police acquire consent from a cohabitant who possesses common authority over the property to be search." Castell v. State, 122 Nev. 356, 360, 131 P.3d 1, 3 (2006) (internal quotation marks and footnotes omitted); State v. Taylor, 114 Nev. 1071, 1078, 968 P.2d 315 (1998) (noting that review of a trial court's "determinations of authority to consent requires consideration of both factual circumstances and legal issues." Thus, the Court reviews "de novo the district court's decisions regarding the authority to consent.") (citations omitted). Similarly, the Court reviews de novo whether an emergency exception justifies a warrantless entry into a home. Hannon v. State, 125 Nev. 142, 145, 207 P.3d 344, 346 (2009). ///

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution (and Nev. Const. Art. 1, § 18) forbids unreasonable searches and seizures. "Warrantless searches and seizures in a home are presumptively unreasonable." Doleman v. State, 107 Nev. 409, 413, 812 P.2d 1287, 1289 (1991) (citing Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 587 (1980)). "[W]arrantless searches are permitted if based upon probable cause and exigent circumstances." Id. Or, if based upon lawful consent. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973). "When considering our citizens' constitutional right to be secure in their homes and free from unreasonable searches and seizures, this court, on review, must be careful not to permit the exception to swallow the rule." Howe v. State, 112 Nev. 458, 463, 916 P.2d 153, 157 (1996) (internal quotation marks omitted, italics in the original) (citing *Phillips v. State*, 106 Nev. 763, 765-66, 801 P.2d 1363, 1365 (1990) (in turn quoting Nelson v. State, 96 Nev. 363, 365, 609 P.2d 717, 719 (1980). "The State bears the burden of proving consent by [c]lear and persuasive evidence." Id. (citing McIntosh v. State, 86 Nev. 133, 136, 466 P.2d 656, 658 (1970) (internal

quotation marks omitted, alteration in the original) (citing $Thurlow\ v$. $State,\ 81\ Nev.\ 510,\ 515,\ 406\ P.2d\ 918,\ 921\ (1965).$

No valid consent

In order for a third party to be able to give valid consent to search a shared area, that third party must "possess[] actual authority over or other sufficient relationship to the premises or effects sought to be inspected." State v. Taylor, 114 Nev. at 1079, 968 P.2d at 321 (citing United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164 (1974). See also Casteel v. State, 122 Nev. at 360, 131 P.3d at 3 (finding that Casteel's "live-in girlfriend" had "equal control over the apartment she shared with Casteel" and could give valid consent to search because Casteel took "no special steps to secure a privacy interest in his ... property or explicitly denie[d]" the live-in girlfriend "all access to the property."). In contrast, here Andrew's room was his room and was not a commonly shared area. Andrew, unlike Casteel, had secured a privacy interest in his room. Mr. Robert Lastine made this point when he testified at the pretrial hearing that Andrew paid rent for the room; that the door was always closed; and that if he wanted to go back there, he "knocked on the door just out of courtesy, because it was his space." Thus, while Mr. Lastine could

Andrew's room. They arguably were allowed to go down the hallway but no farther than the closed bedroom door. Entry into the room itself required a warrant, which they lacked. Thus, the deputies' entry into Andrew's room violated the Fourth Amendment and the coextensive provision of the Nevada Constitution. As a result, all evidence obtained following the illegal entry into Andrew's room must be suppressed.

No exigent circumstance

In *Hannon v. State*, 125 Nev. 142, 207 P.3d 344, the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the standard announced in *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398 (2006) for emergency home entries. In doing so the Court abandoned its previously used two-step approach that allowed an emergency home entry without a warrant if law enforcement officers (1) reasonably believed that emergency assistance was needed, and (2) they lacked an accompanying intent to either arrest or search. 125 Nev. at 146-47, 207 P.3d at 346-47. Now the subjective motivations of the

⁴ On de novo review this Court should consider how much credit to afford Deputy Gamboa's testimony that Andrew's door was "was closed except for maybe approximately an inch," in light of Mr. Lastine's testimony that the door was *always* closed, and Deputy Obos' testimony (at trial—he did not testify at the pretrial hearing) that the door was closed and that they opened the door to enter the room.

officer(s) is irrelevant, and "the reasonableness of an emergency home entry depends on whether the circumstances viewed *objectively* justify [the] action." 125 Nev. at 147, 2017 P.3d d at 347 (internal quotation marks omitted, italics and alteration in the original) (citation omitted).

Here there was no objective basis to believe that Mr. Lastine was injured or that he (an adult) needed help or that there was any immediate threat. Considered in the totality of the circumstances, Deputy Gamboa had no cause to ignore the warrant application process; a process that includes telephonic warrants. Thus, this Court should conclude that the warrantless entry into Andrew's separate bedroom was not justified by an objectively reasonable belief that there was an emergency of some sort. And because "no emergency reason existed for forgoing a warrant," *Hannon v. State*, 125 Nev. at 148, 207 P.3d at 348, this Court should conclude that the district court erred in denying Mr. Lastine's motion to suppress.

///

///

///

///

VIII. CONCLUSION

For the reasons given, this Court should reverse Mr. Lastine's conviction and remand for a new trial with instructions to suppress all evidence obtained after the officers' illegal entry into Mr. Lastine's room.