IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANDREW ROBERT ALLEN LASTINE,

Appellant,

No. 73239

Feb 21 2018 02:25 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
Washoe County Public Defender Washoe County District Attorney

JOHN REESE PETTY

Chief Deputy Public Defender

P. O. Box 11130

Reno, Nevada 89520-0027

JOSEPH R. PLATER

Appellate Deputy

P.O. Box 11130

Reno, Nevada 89520

Respondent.

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Electronically Filed

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

2. Discussion

The Fourth Amendment generally precludes the police from entering a person's home without a warrant. *Georgia v. Randolph*, 547 U.S. 103, 109 (2006). Consent exempts a search from the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 222 (1973). It is the State's burden to prove consent. *Howe v. State*, 112 Nev. 458, 463, 916 P.2d 153, 157 (1996).

The police may enter and search a defendant's house with the voluntary consent of the defendant or a third party who has actual authority or other sufficient relationship to the premises to be searched. *Randolph*, 547 U.S. at 109; *United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 170 (1974); *Johnson v. State*, 118 Nev. 787,794, 59 P.3d 450, 455 (2002) ("Even if a person has

standing to object to a warrantless search, the search is proper if that person's cohabitant consents to the search and the cohabitant 'possessed common authority over or other sufficient relationship to the premises or effects sought to be inspected.' ") (quoting United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. at 171), overruled on other grounds by Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 770-72, 263 P.3d 235, 250-51 (2011))).

"Actual authority is proved (1) where defendant and a third party have mutual use of and joint access to or control over the property at issue, or (2) where defendant assumes the risk that the third party might consent to a search of the property." *State v. Taylor*, 114 Nev. 1071, 1079, 968 P.2d 315, 321 (1998). Even when the police make a mistake of fact as to a third party's actual authority, a search is not unlawful if the police reasonably believed that the third party had actual authority—that is, the third party had apparent authority. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 184–86 (1990). The reasonableness of an officer's belief that a third-party has common authority is viewed under an objective standard. *Id*.

a. Actual Authority

Here, police found Andrew's license plate at the accident scene where he had rear-ended Ms. Green's SUV. Instead of remaining at the accident,

Andrew sped away to his uncle's house—only a minute away. Police traced Andrew's license plate to the home that Robert Lastine owned and lived in. Andrew stayed in the back room of his uncle's house. The room had two doors—one inside the house and another on the side of the house's exterior. Andrew occasionally paid rent. He owned a Ford Ranger, titled and registered in his name, that he parked in front of his uncle's house.

When Deputy Gamboa arrived at Robert Lastine's residence he asked who owned the Ford truck on the property. Robert Lastine told him that his nephew owned it. The license plate found at the accident scene matched the front license plate on Andrew's truck. The truck had damage to its front end, and steam or smoke came from the truck.

When another deputy sheriff arrived, the deputies asked Robert

Lastine if they could enter the house and talk to the truck's owner. Robert

Lastine agreed. The deputies asked Robert Lastine if Andrew was in the

house. Robert Lastine said that if he were, he would be in the back room.

Robert Lastine told the deputies they could "go get him," but they could not

search any other place of the house. Robert Lastine showed the deputies

Andrew's room. The door of the room was slightly open. Deputy Gamboa

saw Andrew hiding under a blanket, and announced his presence as a law

enforcement officer several times, but Andrew did not respond. The deputy was concerned about Andrew's well-being because there had been "a major car accident" and one of the cars involved in the accident was at Andrew's uncle's residence. There was significant damage to the truck. Andrew refused to show his hands, so deputies entered the room. Robert Lastine thought Andrew needed medical treatment. REMSA paramedics came to the residence at some point. When Trooper Howald arrived at the residence, she arrested Andrew.

From this scenario, the district court correctly concluded that Robert Lastine had actual authority to permit officers to "go get" Andrew. Robert Lastine owned and lived in the house. Andrew stayed in one of the rooms, and sometimes paid rent. Robert Lastine led the officers to the door of Andrew's room, which was inside Robert Lastine's residence, and which was partially open. Robert Lastine told the officers they could not go into any other area of the house. A reasonable officer, given this situation, would have believed that Robert Lastine had actual authority to permit the officers to "go get" Andrew. In other words, police had "the consent of one who possesse[d] common authority over premises or effects," which was "valid as against the absent, nonconsenting person [Andrew] with whom that

authority is shared." *Matlock*, 415 U.S. at 170. *See also, State v. Taylor*, 114

Nev. 1071, 1079, 968 P.2d 315, 321 (1998) ("Actual authority is proved (1) where defendant and a third party have mutual use of and joint access to or control over the property at issue, or (2) where defendant assumes the risk that the third party might consent to a search of the property.").

A person who occupies a motel room or home with another person possesses the authority to consent to a search. See e.g., United States. v. Hall, 979 F.2d 77, 79 (6th Cir. 1992) (owner of home in which defendant rented room had common authority over room and therefore validly consented to search of defendant's room; homeowner owned all the furniture in defendant's room, door to room was never locked, and while homeowner never entered defendant's room when he was not home, homeowner had access to that room at all times); United States v. Wright, 971 F.2d 176, 180 (8th Cir. 1992) (homeowner possessed authority to consent to a search of his own home, including the guest bedroom where defendant spent the evening); *United States v. Richard*, 994 F.2d 244, 250 (5th Cir. 1993) (cooccupant of a motel room had authority to consent to a search of a room she had been staying in for several days).

///

The fact that Robert Lastine may not have used the room is not dispositive of his authority to give consent to police to enter the room. See United States v. Iribe, 11 F.3d 1553, 1556 (10th Cir. 1993) (finding defendant's niece had authority consent to search because the niece "clearly had joint access to the house inasmuch as she was living with [defendant] at [the house which was the subject of the search]"); United States v. Hall, 979 F.2d 77, 78–79 (6th Cir. 1992) (finding common authority where consenting homeowner had access to defendant's rental room, but never entered it when defendant was not present), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 947 (1993); United States v. Peterson, 524 F.2d 167, 180-81 (4th Cir. 1975) (mother's access and control over premises gave authority to consent with no showing of use), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1088, (1976); State v. Washington, 86 N.C.App. 235, 357 S.E.2d 419, 426 (1987) ("[A]ctual use is irrelevant where [defendant's mother] retained sufficient control over the premises that defendant assumed the risk that she might at some time exercise her right to enter upon and inspect the premises and permit others to do so.").

There is no evidence that Andrew objected to the search of his room or the seizure of his person or that police removed him to forestall such an objection. *See George v. Randolph*, 547 U.S. 103, 106 (2006)("a physically

present co-occupant's stated refusal to permit entry prevails, rendering the warrantless search unreasonable and invalid as to him."). Accordingly, the district court correctly concluded that Robert Lastine had the actual authority to let police search a bedroom in his house.

b. Assumed Risk

At a minimum, Andrew assumed the risk that his uncle might consent to a search of his own house. *Taylor*, *supra*. There was no evidence that Andrew considered his room a distinct and separate space that he had exclusive control over such that his uncle had no legal or moral right to enter. There was no formal lease agreement between Robert Lastine and Andrew; Andrew did not always pay rent; there was no evidence the inside door to Andrew's room could be locked; indeed, the door was partially open when police came to the residence; Andrew had no legal right to stay in the room; and there did not appear to be a separate bathroom, kitchen, or plumbing that would make the room independently self-contained. Moreover, Andrew did not present evidence about how often he stayed at his uncle's house, how long he had been there, whether he was current on his rent, whether his uncle had access to the room and under what circumstances, or any other living arrangement he and his uncle had.

In short, Andrew did not meet his burden to show that he had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his uncle's room. *Rawlings v. Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980) ("Petitioner, of course, bears the burden of proving not only that the search of Cox's purse was illegal, but also that he had a legitimate expectation of privacy in that purse."). Accordingly, Andrew assumed the risk that his uncle would permit police to enter the room.

c. Exclusive Authority

But the Court need not consider whether Robert Lastine had actual authority to consent to a search of his house, or whether Andrew assumed the risk that his uncle might consent to a search of the house. The State contends that where the owner of a residence lives at the residence and is present when police arrive at the residence, and gives police authority to search some part of the interior of the residence, the police act lawfully in such a search, absent clearly identifiable indicia that that part of the house is a completely separate and controlled section that some other person has a recognized privacy interest in, and who has the right to keep all other people out of, including the owner who lives in the residence. *See e.g., United States. v. Hall*, 979 F.2d 77, 79 (6th Cir. 1992) (owner of home in which defendant rented room had common authority over room and therefore

validly consented to search of defendant's room; homeowner owned all the furniture in defendant's room, door to room was never locked, and while homeowner never entered defendant's room when he was not home, homeowner had access to that room at all times); *United States v. Wright*, 971 F.2d 176, 180 (8th Cir. 1992) (homeowner possessed authority to consent to a search of his own home, including the guest bedroom where defendant spent the evening), Commonwealth v. Gibbons, 379 Pa. Super. Ct. 285, 549 A.2d 1296, 1300-01 (1988) (finding mother had authority to consent to search of adult son's bedroom because defendant introduced no evidence diminishing his mother's dominion over the premises); State v. Kunkel, 406 N.W.2d 681, 682-84 (N.D. 1987) (holding mother had sufficient authority to consent where mother owned home, and evidence was insufficient to establish landlord-tenant relationship); State v. Worley, 179 W.Va. 403, 410, 369 S.E.2d 706, 713 & n. 8 (1988) (father had authority to consent to search of bedroom within trailer used by son where no evidence was submitted that son took measures to limit father's authority), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 895 (1988).

In this regard, the Supreme Court has stated that a person's "status as an overnight guest is alone enough to show that [the guest] ... had an

expectation of privacy in the home that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable." *Minnesota v. Olson*, 495 U.S. 91, 96–97 (1990). The Court has also noted, however, that "[f]rom the overnight guest's perspective, he seeks shelter in another's home precisely because it provides him with ... a place where [the guest] ... and his possessions will not be disturbed by anyone but his host and those his host allows inside." *Id. at* 99; *See also, State v.* Campbell, 714 N.W.2d 622 (Iowa 2006) ("Defendant, as a frequent overnight guest at Saffold's home, enjoyed an expectation of privacy in the room where he kept some personal belongings. That expectation of privacy, however, is applicable only to the unwarranted actions of government actors. It does not ensure the guest's possessions will not be disturbed by the host and those persons for whom the host allows entry.") (citing Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 99 (1990)).

Andrew and Robert Lastine were not merely co-inhabitants in a residence that they shared. Robert Lastine owned the house and lived there. He let Andrew stay there, and Andrew occasionally paid rent. As the owner of the house, Robert Lastine was free to permit anyone to enter any area of the house. The exclusive authority that Robert Lastine possessed lawfully permitted the police to go see Andrew in the house.

d. Apparent Authority

If Robert Lastine did not have actual or exclusive authority to permit police to enter Andrew's room and search for him, or if Andrew did not assume the risk of his uncle's consent to search the room, Robert Lastine at least had apparent authority to authorize the search in this case. See Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 179, 186 (1990) (authorizing a search for "based upon the consent of a third party whom the police, at the time of the entry, reasonably believe[d] ... possess[ed] common authority over the premises, but who in fact d[id] not do so."). "Whether an individual has apparent authority to consent to a search must be judged against an objective standard, namely, would the facts available to the officer at that moment warrant a person of reasonable caution to believe that the consenting party had authority over the property." Taylor, 114 Nev. at 1080, 968 P.2d at 322 (citing Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 188 (1990) (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21–22 (1968)). "Whether the basis for [authority to consent to a search] exists is the sort of recurring factual question to which law enforcement officials must be expected to apply their judgment; and all the Fourth Amendment requires is that they answer it reasonably." Id. (quoting Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 186). "Thus, "the Fourth Amendment does not

invalidate warrantless searches based on a reasonable mistake of fact, as distinguished from a mistake of law." ' *Id.* (quoting United States v. Salinas–Cano, 959 F.2d 861, 865 (10th Cir. 1992) (quoting United States v. Whitfield, 939 F.2d 1071, 1073–74 (D.C.Cir. 1991)).

Apparent authority is analyzed as follows:

First, did the searching officer believe some untrue fact that was then used to assess the extent of the consent-giver's use of and access to or control over the area searched? Second, was it under the circumstances objectively reasonable to believe that the fact was true? Finally, assuming the truth of the reasonably believed but untrue fact, would the consent-giver have had actual authority?

Id. (quoting United States v. Dearing, 9 F.3d 1428, 1429–30 (9th Cir. 1993) (citations omitted).

Here, even if the district court clearly erred in finding that Robert

Lastine had actual access to or control over the room Andrew was staying in,
the district court correctly found that the deputies reasonably believed

Robert Lastine had apparent access to or control over the bedroom. Robert

Lastine owned the proprerty, lived there, and told the deputies they could go
to Andrew's room to get him, but no more.

This case is thus similar to *Snyder v. State*, 103 Nev. 275, 738 P.2d 1303 (1987), where this Court found that police officers reasonably relied on the

apparent authority of the defendant's brothers to consent to a search of the defendant's apartment. In *Snyder*, police officers found one brother sitting outside an apartment where he had been shot, and the brother told them they could find marijuana in the apartment; the second brother let the officers in and consented to a search. *Id. at* 280-81, 738 P.2d at 1307. The Court noted, there was no indication that the second brother "told the police he was just a guest or non-occupant." *Id. at* 281, 738 P.2d at 1307. The facts in this case demonstrate that Robert Lastine had more authority than the brother in *Snyder* had to consent to a search. Thus, the district court in this case correctly found that Robert Lastine had apparent authority to consent to a search for Andrew.

e. Harmless Error

If the district court erred in denying Andrew's motion to dismiss/suppress, the error was harmless, as overwhelming evidence supports the conviction.

If the district court erred in denying the motion to suppress, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Medina v. State*, 122 Nev. 346, 355, 143 P.3d 471, 477 (2006) (to hold a federal constitutional error harmless, the court must be able to conclude that it was harmless beyond a reasonable

doubt by determining beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict (*citing Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967), and *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993)).

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